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Organbuilders' Rountable at 1978 Smithsonian Folk Festival: I. to r., David Moore, John Brombaugh, George Taylor, David Gibson, 
and Si Fisk. Voicing table in background. 

Five Organ Builders Talk "Tracker" 
by Jerry R. Chase 

Five organ builders met during this year's Festival of 
American Folklife at the Smithsonian Institute in Washing­
ton, D.C. to discuss and demonstrate to the general public 
their unique craft of making mechanical-action organs. This 
seminar had greater implications than just acquainting the 
general populace with organ building. For probably the first 
time in recent American history have this many experienced 
mechanical-action organ builders come together under one 
roof to share with one another and the public the techniques 
that give their instruments identity. The builders who 
joined in the workshop are John Brombaugh and Si Fisk who 
live and work in Eugene, Oregon; George Taylor in German­
town. Ohio; A. David Moore in North Pomfret, Vermont; 
and David_ Gibson in Deerfield, New Hampshire. 

Two sessions met daily from October 4 through October 
9, 1978, to discuss what it is like to be an organ craftsman 

working in a small shop and the kind of instruments they 
make. After each of these brief sessions they went to their 
work benches and demonstrated how to work with lead alloy 
in making pipes. Once the pipes were made they were 
placed on a voicing machine and voiced to the particular 
sound and quality desired. The visitors talked freely with 
the organ builders asking a large range of questions: What 
makes your organs different from the electronic organ in my 
church? What combination of metals do you use for the 
pipes? What influence does a case around the pipes have on 
the sound of the organ? 

Several of the builders contributed various pieces of 
organ building equipment for the workshop. Most notable 
was the voicing machine, already mentioned, built by A. 
David Moore, utilizing a wind chest and keyboard from a 
19th century organ. To this he added an air reservoir and a 
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Some Historically Interesting Organs Remain 

Yes, organ history has been made in St. Louis, and fas­
cinating pieces of it remain. While at this writing the itiner­
ary for the June Convention has not been finalized, the Con­
vention Program Chairman (who is also the chapter 
chairman) and the Convention Chairman - David Porkola 
and Earl Naylor respectively - are making selections from 
among a number of historic instruments listed below. They 
feel that St. Louis has something great to offer - instru­
ments by builders whose work will be new to many in the 
OHS. (Locally-built instruments will be listed by builder in 
the order given above): 

Wilhelm Metz 

Circa 1846, 1-4, now in St. Stanislaus Jesuit Museum, 
until very recent years in a basement chapel of St. Joseph's 
R.C. Church. Almost totally original, the organ has not even
had a blower attached. An immediate, authentic restoration
is planned. Museum authorities have selected James
Warner of Catawissa, Missouri, to do the work. The four
ranks are: Gedackt 8', Gumba (sic!) 8', Principal 4', Octav 2'.
This is believed to be the oldest extant organ of the thou­
sands built in St. Louis.
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The 1861 Pilcher case in St. John's Church. Photo by Robert I. 
Thomas. 
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The Pilchers 

Only one large case of a locally built Pilcher organ is 
known to remain in St. Louis. It is in the Church of St. John 
the Apostle and EvangelisL The Pedal division of this 1861 
organ extended from 32' to 4'. A picture and the description 
of the original organ appeared in THE TRACKER 15:4. 

Joseph Gratian 

Very few of his instruments remain, and there are no 
known ones in the immediate St. Louis area. 

J.G. Pfeffer 

1862, 1-8, St. Mary's R.C. Church near Moselle, 
Missouri. It has a very brightly voiced Principal chorus of 8, 
4, 2 2/J, 2'. This organ was rebuilt and the case refinished a 
few years ago, largely by Raymond Churchtown. 

Ciera 1865, 1-15, SanSalvator Lutheran Church, Venedy, 
Illinois. This large one-manual instrument which boasts both 
an 8' wooden "Violon Schello" and an 8' Possaunne with 
wooden resonators in its three-stop Pedal, is almost certain­
ly the work of Pfeffer and definitely an American-built 
organ, although the church believed for many years that it 
was the organ which Saxon Lutheran immigrants brought 
from Dresden to Missouri in 1839. (The Dresden organ 
apparently went down with the ship Amalia). 11 Mistakenly 
accepting the "facts" as published by the church, the pre­
sent writer described the organ as the 1839 German Organ 
THE TRACKER 11:1. A complete stop list appears there, 
although three manual stops are labeled "Pedal." 

This splendid instrument is the subject of a doctoral 
dissertation by OHS member, Dr. Richard Hass. 

1870, 1-12, St. Paul's Lutheran Church, New Melle, 
Missouri. The Chorus in this organ is unusual - 8, 4, 22h, III 
- the only 2' being in the Mixture which breaks at Middle C
from 2', l'h', 1' to 4', 2 2/3

°, 2', thus doubling the 22h' in the
treble. The two-stop Pedal includes an 8' Open wood which
makes a division in itself. This organ is treasured.

A picture and a write-up of the organ's one hundredth 
anniversary recital (as well as a translation of the church 
records regarding the organ) appeared in THE TRACKER

14:4. OHS members Donald Petering and Peter Pull have 
researched both this organ and a large Pfeffer in Iowa in 
great detail for a Master's thesis which Mr. Petering is 
writing about Pfeffer and his work. 

Circa 1890, 1-5, St. Patrick's Rock Church near Cata­
wissa, Missouri. Still hand-pumped, this organ is in a fasci­
nating church which is lighted by kerosene lamps. Although 
the instrument is small, its sound is grand. It has Pfeffer's 
usual wind system for small organs - a single-fold reservoir 
with very wide ribs and a single feeder. Unlike some of the 
others which have been slightly altered, this Pfeffer retains 
its two wooden leaf springs about nine feet long which assist 
the weights on the reservoir. The organ has a distinctive 
horizontal roller board of the type adopted by Mr. Pfeffer in 
the 1880s. 

We have saved Pfeffer's two large instruments within 
the city of St. Louis to mention together. 

1874, 2-33, reversed console, St. Vincent de Paul R.C. 
Church. The organ is in use, but in dreadful condition. The 
church hopes to secure funds for an authentic restoration, 
but there is only slight hope that this will have taken place 
before the Convention. It is basically an outstanding instru­
ment. (Many stop labels are missing or illegible. This list re­
presents ranks in the organ). 












































